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            This book is dedicated to Alastair Morgan, and the quarter of a century he has spent pursuing justice for his younger brother Daniel, murdered in 1987.
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            PREFACE

            THE UNTOLD STORY

         

         ‘There has never been any trial like this,’ a defence barrister told me during a smoking break outside the main doors of the Old Bailey – a place where a surprising number of journalists, lawyers and detectives congregated. He added: ‘There will never be another trial like this.’

         Weeks before the phone hacking trial began in October 2013 the Daily Telegraph commentator Peter Oborne billed it as ‘the trial of the century.’ Yet it had taken almost the whole of the century so far to arrive. Two years had already passed since the News of the World closed in 2011 and eleven years since the newspaper had hacked the mobile phone of the murdered teenager Milly Dowler.

         In a sense it was, as one prosecutor described it, ‘the trial nobody wanted.’ In 2006, the Metropolitan Police had limited its inquiries into hacking to avoid a high-profile trial, partly to spare the Royal Family embarrassment. Neither the defendants nor their employer, News International (since re-branded News UK) wanted an Old Bailey showdown. And for all the glamour of some of the targets of hacking, compared to other famous murder or terrorism trials, the stakes could seem small: there were no dead bodies, no violent attacks against other individuals, or attempts to overturn the state.

         Yet, the state was, somehow, at risk. Two of Britain’s most senior police officers had resigned in the wake of the hacking scandal in 2011. Rebekah Brooks, former Murdoch protégé and not so long ago arguably the most powerful woman in Britain, had achieved the extraordinary feat of being friend to three successive prime ministers. Andy Coulson, her deputy and successor as News of the World editor, had been the Prime Minister’s director 7of communications at Number 10. Meanwhile the News of the World’s hacking victims ranged from actors and footballers to Cabinet ministers and princes. The tabloid had a reputation for exposing the private secrets of the rich and famous, without fear or favour; the trial promised to be as sensational as its front pages. When the judge, Mr Justice Saunders, warned in his opening remarks that not only the defendants but also ‘British justice is on trial,’ he might well have been concerned that intense media interest in such high-profile defendants could generate coverage that would improperly influence the jury.

         The trial was unique in other ways. Normally the state in the form of the police and prosecutors holds the balance of power. Much of our legal system has evolved to help to redress that imbalance. But at the hacking trial the financial might of Rupert Murdoch’s media companies News UK and News Corp reversed the situation. Privately funded criminal defences are rare: to have six of them (all the final defendants, bar Goodman) was unprecedented.

         There are already several books about the phone hacking scandal. My publisher, Martin Hickman, co-wrote one, Dial M for Murdoch, exploring the origins of the scandal and the legal and political campaign in Parliament to expose it. Another, Hack Attack, tells of the long battle waged by the Guardian’s Nick Davies to uncover the truth. Also published this summer was The News Machine, by the Independent on Sunday’s deputy editor, James Hanning, with Glenn Mulcaire, the infamous private investigator whose notebooks provided the bulk of the trial evidence. There are therefore many things I won’t cover in this book because they are or will be covered elsewhere: the role of Mulcaire and the origins of phone hacking at the News of the World. Or its cover-up. Or the cover-up of the cover-up. Or the role of media in politics. Or Rupert Murdoch’s global empire. Or David Cameron’s decision to appoint Andy Coulson as his press spokesman. Or Europe’s largest planned media acquisition, the BSkyB takeover.8

         Beyond Contempt is not even primarily about the evidence heard at the Old Bailey. I’m not going to replicate what is already in the public domain; my crowd funding supporters could rightly claim their money back. This book is all about what couldn’t be reported at the time: the documents and legal arguments embargoed till the verdict; behind the scenes activities by lawyers, police and journalists; and the backstage colour and comment which, given our stringent rules about prejudicing a jury, could have landed me in deep trouble if it had been expressed during the case.

         This is partly a story about what it’s like to report a long trial. While the reporters were sequestered in the Old Bailey, one gained a husband, another nearly lost his life (but in the end, only his appendix). There was friendship, hilarity, tension, and – in the last few weeks – some contention. There was also, as Brooks once alleged in an email to Will Lewis, suggestions of an ‘old-fashioned Guardian-BBC hit job’: but not against News International. A rather curt copper was rude to a female journalist in Court 12 when he tripped over her on the way to the evidence room. Two male reporters, from the Guardian and the BBC, stepped in to her defence. Voices were raised, but no blows traded.

         No matter how objective I try to be about Court 12, this is also ultimately my story. Even on days when the evidence was dull and ‘read’ in the dry monotone of a barrister or detective, there was always something new to learn.

         Court reporting is, as someone once described policing, 99 per cent boredom and 1 per cent terror. I was a completely inexperienced ‘blogger’ roaming around the legal minefields of the Old Bailey. Despite my lack of legal training, I knew that reporting any of the backstage drama, legal argument or comment described above could have been Contempt of Court (telling the jury things they were not supposed to hear), which is punishable by a large fine or imprisonment. One false move therefore could jeopardise the trial and lead straight to jail. Right at the end of the trial, when the jury retired, this book came up in Court 12 in a discussion 9on reporting restrictions. When I asked a defence barrister why I was singled out, he said: ‘I don’t want to have to visit you in Wandsworth Prison, Peter.’

         I’ve also decided to use myself as a character in the drama, not because I want the attention but because my unfamiliarity with the law is a useful (and occasionally amusing) story-telling device for similarly baffled members of the public. Many people have also expressed an interest in how I stumbled into covering the case using social media.

         Finally, too, I can answer the thousands of questions that so many people have had, which I could not answer for fear of falling foul of the contempt laws, or because I just didn’t know. I was also constantly asked to comment on the evidence, what I thought of the guilt or innocence of the defendants and how I rated the various prosecution and defence arguments. Having refrained from anything but reporting for over 30 weeks now, at last I can speak out.

         Yet in some ways I feel uncomfortable expressing an opinion. The glory of court reporting is this lack of comment. Going through the process of just saying who said what, when, has been completely refreshing. I see the phone hacking scandal and British journalism in a new light. I hope I’ve developed a more sceptical ear for commentary, a sharper eye for fact, and a willingness to present both sides of an argument and to let others come to their own conclusions. Our newspapers tend to mix fact and comment in a way that would perturb many American journalists. Often, many of our newspapers seem to more closely resemble vehicles for provocative comment than fact-finding enterprises. That said, Fleet Street arose in the vicinity of the Inns of Court in the discursive tumult of the early coffee shops, where opinionated lawyers argued the toss, scribes penned affidavits and pamphleteers sold scandalsheets. A search for disclosure and judgement in the shadow of the noose.

         Clearly not all the public’s interest in the criminal justice system is in the public interest. One telling of the hacking trial is that 10it was an old-fashioned witch-hunt disguised as a modern trial. There’s undoubtedly a lot of prurience in trial coverage. Opposite the Old Bailey is the Magpie and Stump pub. Though housed in a bland modern building, it stands on the same place as an inn which sold special ‘hanging breakfasts’ to those who wanted a comfy upstairs room to watch someone swinging from a tree. In the same pub, court reporters carry on that tradition, discussing the demise of unpopular defendants. Indeed, before the News of the World focused on celebrity and sex, it was famous for court reporting, particularly salacious divorce and libel cases.

         For serious and lurid reasons this book is called Beyond Contempt. The title was embargoed until the verdict because the resonance – an echo of ‘beneath contempt’ – could have been unfair to the defendants. As you’ll see, that’s not my intent. More importantly, the book explores some of the limitations of free speech and the law in a world of social media where every individual has become a publisher. In British law, the right to a fair trial outweighs the right to freedom of expression. As the Crown Prosecution Service notes:

         
            Article 10 of the European Convention on Human Rights… the right to freedom of expression, is a qualified right, and interference of it in the form of restrictions may be appropriate where this is necessary and proportionate in pursuit of a legitimate aim such as the protection of the rights of others to a fair trial (Article 6 ECHR), or to privacy (Article 8 ECHR).

         

         I suspect some journalists are rethinking this balance. Even Rebekah Brooks, a powerful newspaper editor who championed the rights of a free press, seemed to grasp the limitations of free expression when she protested about ‘trial by media.’ Before and throughout the trial, many defendants complained about media coverage. Andy Coulson was angered by the Guardian’s exclusive on his imminent arrest. Charlie Brooks, Rebekah’s husband, 11explained that the intensive close protection of his wife (she texted her mother that she had more security than the Prime Minister) was partly because she feared a career-destroying photograph of her arrest. Defendants repeatedly ascribed their ‘no comment’ interviews to police to the fear that their answers would seep into print – an irony, perhaps, given that as journalists most had run stories from police leaks. During the trial this tension between disclosure, open justice and a fair trial was a nail-biting, moment by moment dilemma.

         It’s still something of a problem. Because of other pending related trials (there are at least 12 scheduled) this book does not quite contain everything the court heard in evidence or in legal argument. For the time being some names must be redacted to avoid prejudicing their trials, ongoing police investigations or charging decisions by the Crown Prosecution Service. But they are not in themselves deeply relevant to the 130 days the court sat.

         Finally, this book has been written at speed, for publication as soon as possible after the verdicts, the mitigation pleas and sentencing. Because of that haste it might lack grace or contain a few typos, but should be solid on the facts. I can’t claim to be exhaustive. The definitive work on all the trials, all the background, can only be written once all the criminal cases are over. But when it comes to the hacking trial, a window of public interest and legal opportunity has opened.

         As I used to say to my producers when writing TV drama under the tight and expensive deadlines of a shooting schedule: ‘Do you want it perfect? Or do you want it Tuesday?’

         Hello Wednesday.
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            CHARGES

         

         COUNT 1

         Conspiracy to intercept communications in the course of their transmission without lawful authority, contrary to section 1(1) of the Criminal Law Act 1977.

         
             

         

         IAN EDMONDSON, REBEKAH BROOKS, ANDREW COULSON and STUART KUTTNER between 3 October 2000 and 9 August 2006 conspired together, and with Glenn Mulcaire, Clive Goodman, Greg Miskiw, Neville Thurlbeck, James Weatherup and persons unknown, to intercept, without lawful authority, communications in the course of their transmission by means of a public telecommunications system, namely mobile phone voicemail messages.

         
             

         

         SUMMARY: The phone hacking charge that dominated the trial. Four executives at the News of the World – including Rebekah Brooks and Andy Coulson – stood accused of approving its mass interception of voicemails between 2000 and 2006. On 8 August 2006, the hacking all but stopped when Scotland Yard anti-terrorism officers arrested the News of the World reporter, Clive Goodman and its private detective, Glenn Mulcaire, for hacking the Royal Family. In January 2007, Goodman and Mulcaire were jailed for hacking a total of eight victims. A cover-up by the paper’s owner, News International, which claimed that Goodman had been the only reporter to hack phones, continued until 2011. One defendant, news editor Ian Edmondson, fell ill during the 13trial and was severed from proceedings on 12 December 2013. He may be re-tried.

         COUNT 2

         Conspiracy to commit Misconduct in Public Office, contrary to section 1(1) of the Criminal Law Act 1977.

         
             

         

         CLIVE GOODMAN and ANDREW COULSON, between the 31st August 2002 and the 31st January 2003, conspired together and with persons unknown to commit misconduct in public office.

         
             

         

         SUMMARY: Andy Coulson, then editor of the News of the World, later David Cameron’s director of communications, stood accused of conspiring with Clive Goodman to pay a Scotland Yard royal protection squad officer £1,750 for copies of two royal phone directories dated September and October 2002 (detectives had found the directories at Goodman’s home in 2006 but taken no action then). The jury did not reach a verdict on this charge. There may be a re-trial.

         COUNT 3

         Conspiracy to commit Misconduct in Public Office, contrary to section 1(1) of the Criminal Law Act 1977.

         
             

         

         CLIVE GOODMAN and ANDREW COULSON, between 31 January 2005 and 3 June 2005, conspired together and with persons unknown to commit misconduct in public office.

         
             

         

         SUMMARY: Similar to Count 2 but relating to the payment of £1,000 for a single royal phone directory dated February 2005. The jury did not reach a verdict on this charge.14

         COUNT 4

         Conspiracy to commit Misconduct in Public Office, contrary to section 1(1) of the Criminal Law Act 1977.

         
             

         

         REBEKAH BROOKS between 1 January 2004 and 31 January 2012, conspired with [other who cannot be named for legal reasons] and Bettina Jordan-Barber and persons unknown to commit misconduct in public office.

         
             

         

         SUMMARY: While editing the Sun Rebekah Brooks authorized a series of payments totalling £38,000 to a Sun reporter’s ‘number one military contact.’ The contact was a public official, Ministry of Defence civil servant Bettina Jordan-Barber. Brooks denied knowing that the source (who was not named in the reporter’s emails to her) was a public official.

         COUNT 5

         Conspiracy to commit Misconduct in Public Office, contrary to section 1(1) of the Criminal Law Act 1977.

         
             

         

         REBEKAH BROOKS, between 9 February 2006 and 16 October 2008, conspired [other who cannot be named for legal reasons] and with persons unknown to commit misconduct in public office.

         
             

         

         SUMMARY: Again while editor of the Sun, in 2006, Rebekah Brooks was alleged to have authorized payment of £4,000 to a member of the Armed Services for a picture of Prince William in a bikini at a fancy dress party. The jury was discharged from entering a plea on this count on 20 February 2014.15

         COUNT 6

         Conspiracy To Pervert The Course Of Justice, contrary to Section 1(1) Criminal Law Act 1977.

         
             

         

         REBEKAH BROOKS and CHERYL CARTER between 6 July 2011 and 9 July 2011 conspired together to do a series of acts which had a tendency to and were intended to pervert the course of public justice, namely permanently to remove seven boxes of archived material from the archive of News International.

         
             

         

         SUMMARY: While chief executive of News International (now News UK), publisher of the Sun and the News of the World, Rebekah Brooks and her personal assistant, Cheryl Carter, stood accused of withdrawing seven boxes of Brooks’ journalistic notebooks from the company archives on 8 July 2011, in an attempt to frustrate the police inquiry into phone hacking. On that day Andy Coulson was arrested and the News of the World was preparing its final edition, four days after the Guardian revealed the paper had hacked the phone of Milly Dowler.

         COUNT 7

         Conspiracy To Pervert The Course Of Justice, contrary to Section 1(1) Criminal Law Act 1977.

         
             

         

         REBEKAH BROOKS, CHARLES BROOKS and MARK HANNA, between the 15 July 2011 and the 19 July 2011 conspired together and with Lee Sandell, David Johnson, Daryl Jorsling, Paul Edwards and persons unknown to do an act or a series of acts which had a tendency to and were intended to pervert the course of justice, namely to conceal documents, computers, and other electronic equipment from officers of the Metropolitan Police Service who were investigating allegations of 16phone hacking and corruption of public officials in relation to the News of the World and the Sun newspapers.

         
             

         

         SUMMARY: By far the most complicated charge, Brooks, her husband Charlie and News International’s head of security, Mark Hanna, were alleged to have plotted with security guards to hide evidence from the police. On 17 July 2011, Mrs Brooks, her husband and their guards drove from Enstone Manor in Oxfordshire, where they had been staying (they weren’t at their home, Jubilee Barn) to London for her midday appointment at Lewisham police station. Minutes after Brooks was arrested, her husband hid a Jiffy bag containing pornography and a laptop computer behind a bin in the car park below their flat at Thames Quay, Chelsea Harbour.

         Shortly afterwards, Hanna took that material to News International’s headquarters in Wapping. Later that night a security guard returned two of Charlie’s bags to Thames Quay and stashed them behind the bins in the underground car park. While he did so, the guard delivered a pizza to Charlie and a friend. The next morning a cleaner discovered the bags behind the bins and the police were alerted. Because this charge is so thicketed with detail it is dealt with only briefly in this book. Following the conclusion of the trial, the Crown offered no evidence against the security operatives who had been guarding the Brookses.

         FACTUAL NOTE

         To avoid confusion, I have used Rebekah Brooks throughout, even when referring to the time when she was under her maiden name, Wade. Charlie Brooks is referred to as Charlie to avoid confusion with his wife. Likewise, to avoid confusion with Charlie’s barrister Neil Saunders, I have referred to the judge throughout as Justice Saunders, omitting the formal ‘Mr.’ News International has since re-branded as News UK; most of the references here are to News International.
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            LEGAL TEAMS

         

         PROSECUTION

         Andrew Edis QC, Mark Bryant-Heron QC, Don Ramble; Rebecca

Chalkley; Polly Sprenger

         REBEKAH BROOKS

         Jonathan Laidlaw QC, Clare Sibson

         ANDREW COULSON

         Timothy Langdale QC, Alison Pople

         STUART KUTTNER

         Jonathan Caplan QC, Nicholas Griffin QC

         CLIVE GOODMAN

         David Spens QC, Benn Maguire

         CHERYL CARTER

         Trevor Burke QC, Emma Collins

         CHARLES BROOKS

         Neil Saunders

         MARK HANNA

         William Clegg QC, Duncan Penny QC
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            NOT WAR AND PEACE

         

         
            Andrew Edis QC: These allegedly are criminals. They do not wish to make their criminality clear to every breakfast table on Sunday morning.

         

         There’s nothing like a good courtroom drama – and the hacking trial at the Old Bailey was nothing like any courtroom drama I’d ever seen.

         For a start, look at the venue. London’s Central Criminal Court must rate with the Taj Mahal as one of the most photographed places on earth, but its exterior is completely untelegenic. From a distance, the Edwardian baroque dome, topped by a large brass statue of Justice wielding scales and sword, looks impressive. But from the street itself it’s not grand. The main entrance that greets defendants, lawyers, witnesses and journalists is grim, with granitic buttresses, slotted windows and thick reinforced doors. It looks more like a fortress designed to prevent a bomb attack – which it is. In 1973 an IRA car bomb destroyed the original frontage, injuring 200 people. As a reminder, a piece of glass from the explosion has been left embedded in the ceiling above the main stairs.

         Entering the building is forbidding. On my first visit for the pre-trial hearings and ‘case management’ of Regina V Brooks & Others in the summer of 2013, I was immediately accosted by a court guard who asked for a pass or witness summons. Having neither I was ushered out towards the public gallery, accessed via 19a dark tunnel to the right of the main entrance, where I queued with anxious relatives. Word passed down that phones and other electronic equipment were banned, and I was told that, other than turn back and go home, I could store my phone at a nearby travel agent for £1. When I finally made it in past the searches and up six flights of stairs, painted in dour institutional greens and greys, it felt like a punishment for something; a pre-amble for prison. The British legal system vaunts open justice – but it’s not welcoming.

         The Central Criminal Court is not a happy place. In cold war Berlin friends and relatives vanished to the other side of the Iron Curtain at a train station called the ‘Palace of Tears.’ At the Old Bailey tearful or fearful defendants, family or witnesses traipse through its doors every day. When high security suspects arrive, as with the two men who murdered an off-duty soldier in Woolwich, police cars blockade the street and the prison van enters via a fortified entrance to the north on Newgate Street (the Old Bailey occupies the site of the infamous Newgate Prison). The iron bars of incarceration are never far away.

         Though one of the larger courtrooms at the Old Bailey, Court 12 is only marginally less functional than the public areas. The wood panelling and green carpet tiles recall a large classroom or small lecture hall. Behind three rows of desks are the barristers in gowns and horsehair wigs, precariously balancing laptops and legal bundles. Around them sit paralegals and police officers, dressed in dark suits. The only dash of colour comes from the judge’s furtrimmed scarlet robe and hood. Only when the usher announces ‘Be upstanding in court’ and all rise to greet the judge, is the space charged with solemnity. Otherwise it’s studious and humdrum; bundles of paper and computer screens: the kind of place you’d sit an exam in, not fight for your freedom.

         By Sunday 27 October 2013, the press and the defendants were preparing for that battle. But before the hacking trial could begin, a whole phoney war had taken place in Southwark Crown Court and the Old Bailey, hidden from public view by reporting restrictions.20

         At first the plan had been to hold the trial in September 2013, but the judge, Mr Justice John Saunders (hereafter Justice Saunders), agreed the trial could be about more than phone hacking. He ruled that two counts of conspiracy to commit misconduct in public office against Andy Coulson and Clive Goodman could be joined to the case – because the royal phone directories Goodman was accused of buying from a ‘palace cop’ could have been used for hacking. This spelled disaster for Brooks and Coulson’s barristers. Brooks’, John Kelsey-Fry, had to recuse himself because in 2007 he was counsel for Goodman, who, freshly joined to the trial, might call him as a witness. As Kelsey-Fry’s eleventh-hour replacement, Jonathan Laidlaw, needed to read up on the case, the trial was delayed until October – which forced Coulson’s QC, Clare Montgomery, to withdraw over a clash of timing. Timothy Langdale replaced her.

         While I had covered many of the pre-trial hearings, I was only toying with attending part of the trial. I’d been writing journalistic pieces for a couple of years, mainly for the Newsweek and the Daily Beast. And though I’d written over 100 articles for those and other publications – not only on the phone hacking scandal but also Jimmy Savile, Hillsborough, LIBOR scandals and ‘blue chip hacking’ – I didn’t see how reporting the trial could become a full time job. My boss Tina Brown had sold the Daily Beast that summer and announced she was leaving the website, taking my mentor, foreign editor Louise Roug with her. I was thinking I might pop into the Bailey to write the occasional piece and update my book, The Fall of the House of Murdoch. It was a complete accident that I managed to secure one of the sought-after press tickets.

         I met the Guardian journalist Nick Davies outside court during one of these pre-trial hearings. He looked suspicious when I approached him. I told him I’d hung on every word of his reports since he exposed the hacking scandal at the Guardian; he said he’d ‘flicked through’ my book looking for things he might have missed. Despite that unpromising introduction, Davies was 21friendly and helpful – and regularly meeting him would be one of the unexpected benefits of the months ahead. Crucially, he told me I’d need a pass to get into the trial. He gave me his email address, and said he’d get his Guardian colleague Lisa O’Carroll to pass on contact details of Her Majesty’s Courts and Tribunals Service so I could get myself on the list.

         Weeks passed, nothing happened, and I almost forgot about the offer. Then sometime in late September I reminded Davies about providing a court contact. He got back to me a few days later and I whizzed off a request. The official at the end of the line told me they were allocating the seats that day and that they had been heavily oversubscribed. I explained I had been writing regularly on the phone hacking scandal for an American publication, but didn’t hold up much hope. An hour or so later details of my press ticket arrived in my inbox. The media had been divided into two camps: those with ‘gold’ tickets that allowed them to claim one of the dozen or so tickets in Court 12 itself, and ‘silver’ tickets for Court 19, the ‘press annex’ where the proceedings would be watched on closed circuit television.

         Two weeks later, when the trial began, I discovered I was even luckier than I thought. Many more experienced journalists had missed out on this allocation, including Private Eye’s correspondent, Adam Macqueen, whose concise bi-weekly reports were written from the prison like conditions of the public gallery without access to any electronic equipment.

         It wasn’t until mid-October that I began to feel the build up to the ‘Trial of the Century’ – though it wasn’t in the press. Given the massive attention senior newspaper figures such as Brooks and Coulson could generate in their own industry, the Attorney General, Dominic Grieve, had spent the summer sending out warning letters to the media about reporting restrictions and contempt of court. MPs had been briefed about the dangers of prejudicial comment or linking back to historic articles or interviews. I wrote a preparatory profile of Brooks for the New Statesman with nothing about the 22hacking or bribery allegations: its lawyers came back saying that nothing about her could be published.

         On Sunday 27 October, after months of pre-trial hearings and delays, it looked like the trial would be delayed again. The weather forecasts were full of storm warnings – a major anticyclone was due to hit the South East of England overnight, felling trees and power lines and disrupting road and rail travel.

         
            [image: ]

         

         Monday 28 October 2013. Though a blustery, wet autumn morning, the full media pack was braving wind and rain by the entrance of the Central Criminal Court; photographers on steps behind the crowd control barriers, media crews hooked up to terminals and ISDN lines. I took a quick snap of the paparazzi, and one snapped me back with a rapid fire telephoto lens – not because I was important, but to show he could outgun me anytime.

         Through the main entrance, and into the queue through security. The guards were diligent about checking passes. One older guy never failed to stop me to inspect the expiry date of my NUJ pass for the next eight months. The queue for the airlock of the security felt like travelling back in time to airport security in the 1980s. Sometimes you could whiz through. At the wrong time, you had to join a queue of bewildered witnesses mixed with determined lawyers with suitcases and boxes brimming with legal papers. Despite always packing my keys, phone and wallet into the bag through the scanner, I never once failed to trigger the metal detector, and was ‘wanded’ two or three times a day for eight months.

         After collecting my ticket I found myself in Court 19, the press overspill room, which had rows of chairs and two large flat screen TVs, a spaghetti of cables and a couple of small computer speakers. The screens switched between two camera angles – the witness box to the judge’s left and the barristers in front of him. These 23wide-angle shots were wonky and ill-defined. Generally, only the prosecution team and some defence barristers on the right side of the courtroom were visible; Brooks and Coulson’s QCs were not in the frame. In a blurry haze, you could just see the defendants in the glass box behind the wigs. Sound was variable. Sometimes the police controlling the feed down to the annex forgot to turn it on. At other times the barristers omitted to wear their radio mics, or left them too near mobile phones, causing interference. Early in the trial the sound system blew several times, leaving journalists in the annex belting up the eight flights of stairs to Court 12.

         I found myself sat in front of James Doleman and behind Martin Hickman. Doleman was covering the trial for a media and marketing magazine called The Drum and Hickman was covering the trial for Hacked Off, the campaign group. The three of us unconsciously gravitated to the same section, quickly dubbed ‘Bloggers Corner.’

         Like the perfect storm that failed to materialise in the morning, the first day of the trial was an anti-climax. There was nothing to report. The court was taken up with jury empanelment, a typically British exercise. Unlike in the United States, there is no grilling about background, beliefs, attitudes or connections that could be favourable to the prosecution or defence. Instead, jurors have to complete questionnaires which are then argued about by counsel in their absence (along with all legal argument during the case; the jury never heard what went on when they were asked to leave the court). Two days were spent whittling away anyone with strong affiliations to journalism or the police. Potential jurors were challenged by the defence for following Lily Allen on Twitter, having excessive knowledge of Paul McCartney, or even being friends with someone who worked for the Guardian.

         While this went on, the annex was a hotbed of gossip. The seven charges were serious and extensive, but they would also reveal life at News International and the lives of the men and women who made the news. Brooks, Coulson and a third News of the World 24executive – managing editor Stuart Kuttner - stood accused of approving phone hacking at the paper (Count 1). Separately, Coulson and Goodman faced two ‘palace cop’ corruption charges (Counts 2 & 3). Brooks, while editing the Sun, was accused of two other charges of conspiring to commit misconduct in a public office, by paying public officials (Counts 4 & 5).

         Then came the conspiracy to pervert the course of justice charges. Brooks and her long-serving PA, Cheryl Carter, were charged with trying to hide Brooks’ journalistic notebooks on 8 July 2011, two days before News of the World’s final edition (Count 6). Then there was a fantastically complicated charge claiming that Brooks, her husband Charlie and News International’s head of security, Mark Hanna, tried to stash some bags from detectives on 17 July 2011 – the day of Rebekah Brooks’ arrest (Count 7). Reporters knew that Charlie’s defence was that he was only trying to hide some pornography. Inevitably, in the annex, the reporters had some questions. What kind of porn was on Charlie Brooks’ laptop? Who had given Goodman a royal phone directory? Was Hanna angry with his former chief executive? And what had Brooks really said that in her love letter to Coulson…?

         
            [image: ]

         

         The long running affair between the two principal defendants had been one of the worst kept secrets of 2013. It had come up in the pre-trial hearings. During a search of her London home, detectives had discovered an unsent letter from Brooks to Coulson on an old Hewlett Packard computer at the bottom of a cupboard. In pre-trial legal argument the love letter was dubbed ‘the sensitive matter.’ I don’t know why the lawyers bothered with that euphemism. We all knew what they were discussing. A Fleet Street newspaper had dropped a heavy hint. On 1 June, a Mail on Sunday front-page, No 10 Rocked by Secret Love Affair, reported that the Prime Minister, David Cameron, had been ‘stunned’ by the disclosure of a secret, 25now-concluded affair between un-named ‘middle-aged figures.’ A No 10 source was quoted as saying: ‘This revelation is dynamite. None of us could believe it when we first heard it. Then we just thought, ‘What a complete mess’.’ Guido Fawkes, the blogger, named the front-page graphic ACRB.PNG: the initials of Andy Coulson and Rebekah Brooks.

         In the first of many ironies at the trial, Brooks and Coulson’s barristers wanted the love letter excluded from the case because its disclosure would harm or breach their human rights, namely the right to privacy. Having lost that argument in pre-trial hearings, on Monday 28 October the barristers were now asking for the fact of the affair to be excluded from the opening prosecution argument. Jonathan Laidlaw, for Brooks, spoke about ‘reducing the drama’ by removing mention of the affair at the outset (the journalists in the annex groaned) because it would generate adverse publicity, which could impact on the jury and his client’s right to a fair trial.

         A former senior Treasury Counsel, and therefore one of the top prosecutors in the country, Laidlaw spoke with a forcefulness which combined steely logic with a sense of personal mission. While his vocal tone was light, polite and apologetic as he engaged in banter and practicalities with the judge, something would snap into place as soon as he moved onto his skeleton arguments: unyielding will combined with moral certainty. To Laidlaw, the prosecution had enough evidence of confidences shared by Brooks and Coulson in the phone call data, especially during the disappearance of Milly Dowler in 2002. The proximity of those calls to the disappearance of Dowler made mention of the affair superfluous, he said. ‘My learned friend, Mr Edis,’ Laidlaw said, referring to the Crown’s prosecutor, Andrew Edis QC already had ‘the professional relationship between deputy editor talking to editor.’ By excluding mention of the affair during the opening, ‘he does not lose very much if anything.’

         
            [image: ]

         

         26The courtly language of court conflict, spoken in the mellifluous tones of public school English, would fascinate me for months. I’m not sure any fictionalised version of modern legal dramas has quite caught its subtle inflections and barbed subtexts. Suffice to say there appeared to be an undertone of tension between Edis and Laidlaw, who practise at the same chambers. The simmering conflict between them would boil over in the months ahead.

         The response of Justice Saunders (or to give him his full title, Sir John Henry Boulton Saunders) was just as sonorous and polite. To Laidlaw’s contention that the prosecution already had enough evidence he observed: ‘The argument ‘You’ve got enough’ is not attractive in this case,’ he said. ‘Not attractive’ – the wry understatement, typical of the court.

         Trained as a chorister, and apparently still a keen singer, Justice Saunders had a lightness and clarity in his voice that cut through the bad acoustics of the court. As the trial went on, it would also become apparent he was a keen football supporter and an accomplished reciter of racy tabloid stories. Classy but also demotic, he often cut through the legal waffle with good humour and common sense. In reply to Laidlaw, he pointed out that he’d already made a ‘concession’ to exclude most of the letter to maintain the privacy of Brooks and Coulson – only including one paragraph that spoke of their close professional relationship, which was of ‘real concern’ to the case.

         Laidlaw responded with a new argument. He reiterated that he was no longer defending Brooks’ Article 8 Rights to privacy – even though the Brooks and Coulson teams had been fighting tooth and nail to keep the letter out of evidence on that basis for months. ‘Her right to privacy has long gone, as we’ve all seen in the last couple of years,’ Laidlaw said: ‘Having held others to account, she has no issue about this matter being the subject of publicity in due course. She can’t possibly complain about publicity of this sort. It would be hypocritical.’ But though it was ‘inevitable’ the affair would come out in evidence, Laidlaw argued, it should not be ‘opened’ but should be deployed with ‘circumspection’ later.27

         This was the first sign of what I thought of as legal trench warfare – daily arguments over legal points and admissions, which would derail the whole process several times, and nearly turn the hacking trial into the ‘Mistrial of the Century.’ The trench warfare metaphor came to me early, but I was not alone in making the comparison. The prosecutor, Edis, later described the trial as being ‘like World War One.’

         As Laidlaw sat down, a second wave of attack was launched from the bench behind him, by Timothy Langdale QC, for Coulson. Another veteran criminal prosecutor, Langdale had been called to the Bar in 1968. He conveyed an air of familiarity with the law and casual personal authority. By strange coincidence, he was also the man who a decade earlier had prosecuted the killer of Sarah Payne, an eight-year-old whose abduction and murder initiated Rebekah Brooks’ much discussed Sarah’s Law campaign.

         Instead of the moral rigour bordering on outrage of Laidlaw, Langdale’s attitude was more relaxed, world-weary even – but no less lethal. He simply warned Justice Saunders they all had to be ‘assured of the potential benefit, in relation to the alleged Milly Dowler conversation.’ As would happen, time and time again, through weeks of legal argument ahead, Justice Saunders would note the forceful arguments down, and then defuse the combat with a brief and genuine-sounding ‘Thank you.’

         Now it was the turn of Edis, the lead prosecutor, to rise. Tall, slightly diffident and languorous, at first he most resembled a Latin schoolmaster from the era of Mr Chips: kindly, but too abstruse perhaps, or even vague or indecisive. Edis started slowly: the material had been ‘considered very carefully’ ever since ‘it came to our attention in February this year.’ He spoke quietly, as if circling around the issue. The affair was ‘probative’ since it provided ‘direct evidence’ of how much information Brooks and Coulson shared, how close their relationship was; how much they trusted each other.

         Then, like a jazz player getting into a groove, Edis suddenly found his rhythm, and began to riff on the Count 1 conspiracy 28charge: phone hacking. ‘The reality is that the true nature of the relationship of two people accused of conspiracy is essential to the case,’ he argued, now clearer and swept up by the rightness of his thoughts. ‘The true nature of the relationship is material for the jury to consider. There are a lot of Article 8 rights, not only of the defendants,’ he added, pointing out that to prove the prosecution’s case the lives of many phone hacking victims would be ‘paraded in a public courtroom.’ ‘I can’t take a different approach,’ Edis said, in full flow now, the hesitance gone. ‘We are not looking at any prejudicial effect… It is not my approach to inspire publicity. The reason I am keen to open it, is to make it clear to the jury why this matters.’

         Publicity – again: the bane of the case. I had read a statement from Brooks’ lawyers in the Daily Telegraph two years back saying she couldn’t get a fair trial because of the volume of press coverage. Laidlaw underscored this by producing three huge ring binders for the judge which he said was just a ‘selection’ of the prejudicial press and social media comment against his client. Today, he had an even more recent article which was clearly in contempt of court. I gulped when I heard the source. Newsweek, the magazine I wrote for, had decided to post a piece on Brooks, complete with reference to her appearance before the Commons Committee on Culture, Media and Sport (hereafter, the Commons media committee) in 2003 when she admitted to paying police officers for information in the past. Since Parliament barred this evidence being used in the trial, Justice Saunders agreed to a ‘take down’ notice against the American website. Although I hadn’t written the piece, I prayed nobody checked the name of the publication written on my annex ticket.

         Returning home that evening I found these legal minefields exploding closer to my door. Steve Nott, a friend of Alastair Morgan (a campaigner for justice for his murdered brother Daniel) had been sent a letter by the Attorney General for contempt of court. Apparently this was over a tweet he’d sent in reply to me 29earlier that morning with a picture of Coulson outside the court, and an ill-considered remark about how ‘guilty’ he looked. I hadn’t seen it on my timeline, preoccupied by the day’s proceedings. But someone had, and reported him to the authorities. I put Nott in touch with a lawyer and thought nothing more about it. However, others online already seemed to know about his case before he informed anyone. A Twitter account named TabloidTroll was immediately blaming me, asking me why I hadn’t reprimanded Nott for the tweet, adding I was the ‘poster boy for such people.’

         Unfortunately as the trial progressed there would be more to come in this proxy battle with TabloidTroll. But this was just a sideshow to the contempt arguments that raged in court the next day.

         
            [image: ]

         

         Private Eye had decided to celebrate the opening of the hacking trial by picturing Rebekah Brooks on its front cover with the headline Halloween Special: Horror Witch Costume Withdrawn from Shops. The lawyers in Court 12 reacted as if this were cataclysmic. The prosecution was so concerned about the prejudicial effects that police officers were dispatched to seize some of the offending editions from a stall outside nearby Farringdon Station. The canny newspaper vendor told them to come back with a court order. But the comedy of that situation wasn’t echoed in court.

         For an hour or so, the trial looked on the verge of collapse. For Brooks’ barrister, Laidlaw, this was more proof of what he’d been arguing all summer: there was a ‘witch hunt’ against his client. Laidlaw argued forcefully that the judge should stay the trial because justice for Brooks was ‘impossible’ given the ‘campaign against her.’ Justice Saunders looked cornered, and almost helplessly responded: ‘What do you want me to do?’ Langdale backed Laidlaw and added that – at the very least – the trial should be delayed for weeks so a new jury could be selected. Private Eye was referred to the Attorney General for contempt of court – who that 30afternoon ruled he would take no further action. Justice Saunders soothed the defence by promising to make specific directions to the jury about ignoring newspaper coverage and social media after they were sworn in. But already on that second day tempers were fraying, and lawyers seemingly gathering material for appeal against any unfavourable verdicts.

         This trench warfare never stopped. Edis was keen to empanel the jury and start opening the prosecution case. But Laidlaw, wanting to dictate his own timetable, was resisting – breaking the Crown’s momentum, dictating the pace. Laidlaw reproached Justice Saunders and Edis: ‘You’re both rushing it. You’re rushing it!’ Even Justice Saunders’ equanimity was shaken by this suggestion. He blushed, and added that – given the three-month delay of the trial and over a year of legal argument – he could hardly be accused of ‘rushing it.’ However, Laidlaw won the tactical victory and delayed Edis’ opening till the next day. So the jury were sworn in on Tuesday 29 October. As Saunders addressed them, I could start tweeting the ‘Trial of the Century.’

      

   


   
      31
         
            PASSION AND PREJUDICE

         

         
            Mr Justice Saunders: Don’t believe everything you read on Twitter.

         

         When it comes to live-tweeting the phone hacking trial, I was the happy beneficiary of three strokes of good fortune: I lucked out getting a pass to the annex; I lucked out getting a phone signal in the press annex; and more than anything, I lucked out with my judge.

         I didn’t know at the time, but Justice Saunders was a leading advocate of live coverage of criminal trials and ‘open justice ‘: that justice has to be seen to be done to ensure it reflects the values of society. He’d pioneered this in 2011 during the trial of a Tory peer, Lord Taylor, for an expenses fraud. He did so despite a prejudicial comment by the entrepreneur Alan Sugar, whose tweet speculating whether the Tory would get as long a sentence as a Labour MP, David Chaytor, caused some stir in court. When he learnt of the peer’s message, Justice Saunders cleared the court and said: ‘Can someone contact Lord Sugar and get that removed.’ Sugar duly complied and the threat to a fair trial evaporated.

         The normal rule about coverage of trials is that journalists can use electronic devices in court, as long as they file through some intermediary editorial process. Live-tweeting from the courtroom itself was a novelty, though the Guardian’s Lisa O’Carroll pioneered reporting of judicial inquiries, and some other high profile cases had been covered on Twitter. Most old hands I’d spoken to 32thought it would be very unusual in such a complicated case, with so many reporting restrictions.

         However, having checked and double-checked, my first tweet of the second day of the trial, Tuesday 29 October, was this:

         
            Left the courtroom and can confirm Judge has ordered we can live tweet prosecution argument in #hacking trial @DBanksy @nigelpauley

         

         I’d ‘live-blogged’ before: mainly election coverage of presidential debates during the Obama campaign, and then the delivery of Lord Justice Leveson’s report into the culture and ethics of the press in November 2012. After decades writing dialogue and drama, I could type quickly and had an ear for an arresting phrase. But as far as I knew, Justice Saunders would allow only the scripted opening speeches to be reported live. Tweeting a trial is different from newspaper reporting. For instance, my tweets on Justice Saunders’ comments on the Private Eye cover were:

         
            Justice Saunders directs jury to ignore Private Eye cover. ‘It is a joke which in the circumstance of today is in particularly bad taste. ‘

         

         The longer phrase, noted down by the shorthand writers working for newspapers was:

         
            It’s meant to be satire. You ignore it. It has no serious input and it’s not relevant to your consideration. It’s one of those things which you will have to ignore – a joke, that in the circumstances of today is a joke in especially bad taste. ‘
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